
 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.leicestershire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 
 

 

  
 DATE: 28

th
 June 2022 

 MY REF: MIS/CCouncil 
 PLEASE ASK FOR: Mr. M. Seedat 
 DIRECT DIALLING: (0116) 305 6037 
 E-MAIL: mo.seedat@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

 
Dear Sir/Madam 

 

I summon you to the MEETING of the LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL to be held at 
COUNTY HALL, GLENFIELD on WEDNESDAY, 6 JULY 2022 at 2.00 p.m. for the 
transaction of the business set out in the agenda below.  
 

Yours faithfully 

 
 

Chief Executive 

 
 

A G E N D A 
 

1.  
  

Chairman's Announcements.  
 

 

2.  
  

To confirm the minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 18th 
May 2022.  
 

(Pages 3 - 20) 

3.  
  

To receive declarations by members of interests in respect of 
items on this agenda.  
 

 

4.  
  

To answer questions asked under Standing Order 7(1)(2) and (5).  
 

 

5.  
  

To receive position statements under Standing Order 8.  
 

 

To consider reports of the Cabinet, Scrutiny Commission, Scrutiny 
Committees and other bodies: 
 
6.  
  

Report of the Scrutiny Commission  
 

 

 (a) Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22  (Pages 21 - 54) 
  

 
 

 

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/
mailto:mo.seedat@leics.gov.uk


7.  
  

To consider the following notice of motion:  
 

 

 (a) Smoking – Mr M. Mullaney CC 
 

1. That this Council notes that: 
 

a) preventable disease continues to have a massive 
impact on the public’s health, the NHS and the 
economy;  

 
b) tobacco is the biggest preventable cause of cancer 

and death in the UK;  
 
c) decades of comprehensive policy action have meant 

adult smoking prevalence in the UK in 2019 was at 
a record low at 14.1%, but this masks significant 
inequality;  

 
d) the smoking rates in Leicestershire at 12.0% are 

slightly below average but still constitute a 
significant proportion of the local population; 

 
e) differences in smoking rates make it one of the 

leading drivers of health inequality, responsible for 
half the difference in life expectancy between the 
lowest and highest income groups in England;  

 
f) through their public health duties, local authorities 

are responsible for improving the health of their 
population and do this through services such as 
stop smoking services and wider tobacco control 
activities. 

 
2. That this Council: 

 

a) Believes that local government must be adequately 
resourced to fulfil their public health duties;  

 
b) Supports Cancer Research UK’s calls for a 

Smokefree Fund (a fixed annual charge on the 
tobacco industry, making the tobacco industry pay 
for the damage their products cause) to fund local 
tobacco control work, and urges the UK 
Government to consider implementing a 
Smokefree Fund as part of its efforts to tackle 
health disparities.  

 

 
 

 



MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
HELD AT COUNTY HALL, GLENFIELD ON WEDNESDAY, 18 MAY 2022 

 

PRESENT 

Mr. D. Harrison CC (in the Chair) 

 
Mr. R. G. Allen CC, Mr. R. Ashman CC, Mr. N. D. Bannister CC, Mr. T. Barkley CC, 
Mr. P. Bedford CC, Mr. D. C. Bill MBE CC, Mr. G. A. Boulter CC, Mr. S. L. Bray CC, 
Mr. L. Breckon JP CC, Mrs. L. Broadley CC, Mr. B. Champion CC, 
Mr. N. Chapman CC, Mr. M. H. Charlesworth CC, Mr. J. G. Coxon CC, 
Dr. R. K. A. Feltham CC, Mr. M. Frisby CC, Mrs. H. J. Fryer CC, Mr. S. J. Galton CC, 
Mr. D. A. Gamble CC, Mr. K. Ghattoraya  CC, Mr. T. Gillard CC, Mr. D. J. Grimley CC, 
Mrs. A. J. Hack CC, Mr.  L. Hadji-Nikolaou CC, Mr. B. Harrison-Rushton CC, 
Mr. R. Hills CC, Mr. Max Hunt CC, Mr. P. King CC, Mr. B. Lovegrove CC, 
Mr. K. Merrie MBE CC, Mr. J. Miah CC, Mr. J. Morgan CC, Mr. M. T. Mullaney CC, 
Ms. Betty Newton CC, Mr. O. O'Shea JP CC, Mrs. R. Page CC, Mr. B. L. Pain CC, 
Mr T. Parton CC, Mr. T. J. Pendleton CC, Mr. L. Phillimore CC, 
Mrs. P. Posnett MBE CC, Mrs. C. M. Radford CC, Mr. T. J. Richardson CC, 
Mrs H. L. Richardson CC, Mr. N. J. Rushton CC, Mrs B. Seaton CC, 
Mr. R. J. Shepherd CC, Mr. C. A. Smith CC, Mrs D. Taylor CC, Mr. G. Welsh CC, 
Mrs. A. Wright CC and Mrs. M. Wright CC 
 

1. TO ELECT A CHAIRMAN. 

It was moved by Mr Rushton, seconded by Mr Mullaney and carried: 
 
“That Dr Kevin Feltham be elected Chairman for the period until the next 
Annual Meeting of the Council.” 
 
Dr Feltham read out and signed his Declaration of Acceptance of Office 
which was witnessed and signed by the Chief Executive. 
 
Dr Feltham took the Chair and thanked his proposer and seconder and 
members of the Council for electing him. 
 
The Chairman thanked Mr Harrison for his services to the County during his 
period of office as Chairman.  Mr Rushton, Mr Mullaney and Mrs Hack each 
joined the Chairman in associating their Groups with thanks to Mr Harrison.  
Mr Harrison thanked members for their generous remarks. 
 

Dr. K. Feltham CC (in the Chair) 
 

2. TO ELECT A VICE CHAIRMAN 

It was moved by Mr Rushton, seconded by Mr Mullaney and carried: 
 
“That Mr Dan Harrison be appointed Vice-Chairman for the period until the 
next Annual Meeting of the Council.” 
 
Mr Harrison read out and signed his Declaration of Acceptance of office 
which was witnessed and signed by the Chief Executive. 

3 Agenda Item 2



 
Mr Harrison thanked his proposer and seconder for their generous remarks 
and members of the Council for appointing him as Vice-Chairman. 
 

3. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS. 

The Chairman reported with sadness the death of former County Councillor 
Mr Clifford Stanley and former Chief Constable Simon Cole. 
 
Mr Stanley 
 
Mr Stanley was a member of the County Council from 2001 to 2009 and 
represented the Greenhill electoral division.  He served mainly on the 
Children and Young Persons Scrutiny Committee and the Employment and 
Standards Committees. 
 
Simon Cole 
 
Simon Cole was the youngest and longest serving Chief Constable and we 
have lost an outstanding public servant whose main mission in life was to 
make our communities stronger and safer.  During his 12 years as head of 
Leicestershire Police he earned the respect and admiration of everyone he 
worked with. 
 
Members joined the Chairman by standing in silent tribute to Mr Clifford 
Stanley and Mr Simon Cole. 
 
Falklands War Remembrance 
 
On Tuesday, 14th June at 3.00 p.m. the Chairman would be holding a small 
remembrance service at Stand Easy to commemorate the ending of the 
Falklands War in 1982.  The timing of the event would coincide with the Act 
of Remembrance which would take place at the 1982 Cemetery in Port 
Stanley, at 11.00 a.m. local time. All members were invited join him. 
 
Armed Forces Day 
 
As a prelude to Armed Forces Day, the Chairman would be hosting an 
Armed Forces Day Flag-Raising ceremony at the Stand Easy Memorial on 
Monday, 20th June at 10.30 a.m.  Again, all Members were invited to join him.  
 
On Saturday, 25th June, together with the Lord-Lieutenant and Lord Mayor of 
Leicester, the Chairman would be attending Armed Forces Day in Leicester 
City.  There would be a parade of service personnel, veterans, and cadets 
through the streets of Leicester.  Following the parade there would be an 
outside ‘Drumhead Service’ in Green Dragon Square.  All Members, if they 
could, were invited to come into the City to watch the fitting tribute to the 
Armed Forces and veterans. 
 
Summer Reception 
 
The Chairman informed Members that he would be hosting a summer 
reception at Beaumanor Hall on Thursday, 26th July at 6.30 p.m.  All 

4



Members would receive invitations and further details in due course. 
 
County Service 
 
I will be hosting a County Service later in the year and all Members will 
receive an invitation in due course. 
 
Domestic Abuse 
 
The Chairman welcomed the range of exhibits about Domestic Abuse being 
displayed that day in the Members’ lounge.  This formed an Exhibition titled 
‘Expression of Freedom’- which ran at Stephenson College, Coalville in 
November.  Developed by the Safer North-West Leicestershire Partnership, 
the showcase was an artistic collaboration between Leicestershire-based 
artists and groups supported by Leicestershire County Council’s Children and 
Family Wellbeing Service.  
 
A series of creative workshops had been commissioned by the Safer North-
West Leicestershire Partnership to explore the context of abuse in 
relationships with a range of people and used art to reflect, heal and 
empower.  There were plans to develop this project in 2022 and hold a 
County-wide exhibition during the national 16 days of action to eradicate 
abuse campaign which would be in November.  
 
Alongside the exhibition, a new game was being showcased called ‘Talking 
Relationships’.  This had been developed by young people from CYCLe and 
young people from Leicester City and Rutland with support from UAVA.  The 
game was in the style of Top Trumps to enable conversations about 
elements of a relationships including Respect, Trust, Honesty, Compromise, 
Communication and Anger. 
 
Visitors 
 
The Chairman welcomed to the meeting all visitors and guests of members 
and anyone who was joining on the webcast. 
 

4. MINUTES. 

It was moved by the Chairman, seconded by the Vice-Chairman and carried: 
 
“That the minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 17th February 2022, 
copies of which have been circulated to members, be taken as read, 
confirmed and signed.” 
 
 

5. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST. 

The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to make declarations of 
interest in respect of items on the agenda for the meeting. 
 
No such declarations were made. 
 
 

5



6. QUESTIONS ASKED UNDER STANDING ORDER 7(1)(2) AND (5). 

(A) Mr Hunt asked the following question of the Leader or his 
nominee:  

 
“1.  What involvement has the County Council had in this regeneration 

project involving Bedford Square, Ward’s End and Devonshire Square 
in Loughborough Town Centre?  
 

2.  What financial contribution to the scheme has been made, and what 
work has been done so far by the County Council?  
 

3.  Could you confirm that the County Council has previously adopted 
these streets and whether that has ceased?  
 

4.  When the project is completed, what maintenance responsibilities does 
the County Council expect to have, and will they be similar to those of 
Loughborough Market Place (including Cattle Market and Market 
Street)?  
 

5.  Has the County Council agreed the design of the project and 
specifically the choice of stone and the kerbs which are already spoken 
of as a hazard to pedestrians and cyclists?  
  

6.  Does the commendable 20mph limit conform throughout the town 
centre (e.g. High Street, Swan Street, Derby Square and within the 
Inner Relieve Road), if not, could this be considered for safety and 
uniformity?  
 

7. Why is it that the Borough Council engages such highways projects in 
Loughborough when the County Council is the Local Transport 
Authority?  
 

8.  Are there any other recent examples of District Councils contracting 
similar highways projects?”  

 
Mr O’Shea replied as follows: 
 
“1.  Leicestershire County Council (LCC) is the Highway Authority (HA) for 

the roads named and as such requires a third party working on the 
highway to have an appropriate approval to do so. Charnwood Borough 
Council (CBC) has entered into a section 278 of the Highways Act 
agreement with LCC in order for them to be able to complete the 
project.  
 

2.  No financial contribution has been made by LCC. The project is being 
funded exclusively by CBC. As part of the s278 approval process, LCC 
officers have appraised the design submitted by CBCs design 
consultant against the standards contained within the Leicestershire 
Highways Design Guide (LHDG) in order to issue technical approval.  
Legal Services have prepared the s278 agreement.  

 
During construction on the site, officers have inspected the works to 

6



monitor the standard of workmanship and compliance with the 
approved drawings.  

3.  These streets are adopted public highway and continue to be. However, 
under the terms of the s278 agreement, CBC are responsible for 
maintaining their works until such time they have fully complied with the 
terms of the s278 agreement, and a final certificate is issued.  
 

4.  CBC will be responsible for maintenance of the site for a minimum 
period of 12 months upon substantial completion of the works. Upon 
issue of the final certificate, the road will then revert to be the 
maintenance responsibility of LCC.  

 
5. As a standard process with all third party/developer promoted schemes, 

detailed design drawings are required to be submitted to the Highway 
Authority for technical approval. In preparing and submitting their 
proposals, the works promoter is expected to comply with the 
Authority’s standards contained in the Leicestershire Highway Design 
Guide, or other local & national design standards (as appropriate). In 
issuing technical approval, LCC is not verifying the buildability of the 
works promoter’s proposals, just that they have demonstrated 
compliance with relevant design standards. Any technical approval is 
provided with the caveat that the promoter may be required to change 
or amend their proposals to address their responsibilities under the 
terms of the Legal Agreement and in response to any matters raised 
within road safety audits carried out at various stages of a project and 
reflecting specifics of the local environment. For this project LCC gave 
technical approval for the original design submission in February 2021 
e.g. compliance with the relevant design standards. As the works have 
progressed a number of issues have arisen, which CBC through their 
designer have been working to resolve in accordance with their 
responsibilities under the S278 agreement. It is the responsibility of the 
works promoter to ensure approval is in place before construction and 
that construction is undertaken in accordance with that approved 
design. Any variations will be inspected and, if necessary, defects will 
be addressed prior to the issuing of a final certificate.  

 
6.  The 20mph limit will only cover Wards End and the Cattle Market from 

the entrance of the Wards End car park to the junction with Granby 
Street. This was the extents that the works promoter CBC requested in 
order to facilitate the Public Realm scheme.  

 
An extension to the 20mph limit could be considered by CBC or LCC, 
but this would be subject to a viability assessment and further funding, 
the extent of which could be significant should an assessment 
determine the need for speed reducing features to make it self-
enforcing.  
 
I have asked officers to let you have a plan of the extents of the 20mph 
limit.  

 
7.  As the aims and objectives of the scheme are to improve the public 

realm and promote regeneration, this is not the role of the Highway 
Authority and therefore this isn’t a highway project, but a Public Realm 

7



project delivered by CBC using funding available to them for town 
centre regeneration.  I am aware that the project has had a lot of public 
criticism on safety grounds, which have come the way of the County 
Council as the Highway Authority.  It does need to be made clear, as 
above, that it is a CBC project and public criticism, and concerns should 
be directed to them.  

 
8.  As per Q7, this type of scheme is driven by the aim of improving the 

public realm and regeneration of a particular area.  North West 
Leicestershire District Council (NWLDC) is currently working towards 
delivering a similar type of project, and other district and parish councils 
are investigating the possibility of similar such projects.”  

 
Mr Hunt asked the following supplementary question: 
 
“I have a supplementary question on question 5 which relates to the public 
criticism of the safety of new paving being installed. I echo these concerns 
having spoken to a number of people who have tripped and fallen. Members 
will have seen a Leicester Mercury article of a cyclist who fell and injured his 
knee and I have spoken to an experienced cyclist who tripped while walking 
with her bike. The paving is clearly dangerous. 
 
In the answer to question 5 the Lead Member refers to the Section 278 
agreement. Given that there appears to be evidence that the works carried 
out by Charnwood Borough Council are causing concern and are a danger to 
the public could I be assured that the County Council will inspect the works 
carried out and if necessary, require any defects to be addressed before a 
final certificate is issued?” 
 
Mr O’Shea replied as follows: 
 
“I can assure Mr Hunt that the works will be inspected, and a final certificate 
will only be issued when the County Council is satisfied with the works 
carried out.” 
 
(B) Mr Hunt asked the following question of the Leader or his 

nominee:  
 
“1.  On 20th January 2022 the Director of Environment and Transport 

published a report stating that there were “a number of savings which 
are not yet currently developed enough to be able to quantify and build 
into the detailed savings schedules” and added that “Potential to see 
whether increasing wildflower populations on verges provides 
opportunities for reductions in grass cutting in urban areas. But on 6th 
May 2022 the Authority published a press release saying “a partnership 
with local wildlife charity NatureSpot, aims to improve biodiversity and 
encourage wildlife, by leaving wildflowers to flourish on urban roadside 
verges across Leicestershire”. I understand that “leaving wildflowers to 
flourish” also represents a cut in our grass cutting service. What is the 
previous and proposed number of cuts in these urban areas?  

 
2.  Which streets will this affect in Loughborough?  
 

8



3. The press release suggests that the policy involves “volunteers and 
parishes giving up their time to restore the verges, including the sowing 
of native wildflower seeds”. When will the sowing begin and how will the 
locations be chosen?  

 
4. Will restoration of verges include streets on former council estates, like 

Schofield Road?  
 
5. Will those with a “licence to cultivate” be included in the scheme with a 

requirement to reduce grass cutting and substitute a wildflower 
initiative?  

 
6. Given the importance of this policy and the pride that residents 

consistently show in well maintained grass verges, will the authority 
produce a suitable communication directly to residents?  

 
7. What is the saving in the current financial year and why wasn’t it 

included in the MTFS in line with good practice?  
 
8. What other “savings are under development” are likely to be included in 

this financial year that were not included in the MTFS?”  
 
Mr Pain replied as follows: 
 
 “1.  The current number of urban grass cuts is a minimum of six per year. 

For the sites included within this scheme there would be one cut in the 
autumn and collection of the grass from the site one week after cutting.  

 
2.  There are no Urban Wildlife Verges in the town of Loughborough, but 

several verges have been taken by individual parish councils in the 
Charnwood Borough Council area.  

 
3.  The purpose is not to ‘plant’ wildflowers but encourage natural 

regeneration through the reduction of cuts and allowing the natural 
ingress of wildflowers. Sowing of seeds is not necessary everywhere, 
only to give a boost to biodiversity in some areas where species content 
is low. This will also support existing species to thrive in the main 
summer season and re-seed in the autumn.  

 
4.  Verges are selected in places where the district council or parish 

council can support a contract or volunteers to deliver the later cuts and 
collection of arisings.  

 
5.  Individual residents can deliver the same approach as parishes by 

obtaining a ‘licence to cultivate’ outside their homes. Those who 
currently hold a licence to cultivate will not be required to substitute a 
wildflower verge.  

 
6.  Communications about specific verges being considered for the Urban 

Wildlife Scheme are issued via parish councils. We have a verge 
agreement that stipulates the need for consultation locally about any 
verges in the Urban Wildlife Verge scheme. The County Council 
publicises the benefits of the scheme, the Environment Policy and 

9



Strategy Team have been offering workshops for Councillors, parish 
council staff and district and borough representatives willing to engage 
in the scheme, to explain the value of the scheme for nature and the 
process of entering and ways of managing.  We also publish 
information here www.leicestershire.gov.uk/nature.  54 parish councils 
are participating in this 2022 season and there are already four 
additional expressions of interest for the 2023 season.  

 
7.  The sites included within this scheme represent less than one percent 

of the total number of verges that are treated each year therefore there 
will be no material cost savings in not cutting these sites.  
 

8.  At this present time, there are currently no savings ‘under development’ 
that are expected to be included in this financial year’s MTFS. 

 
Mr Hunt asked the following supplementary question: 
 
“My question revolves around the confusion between reducing the number of 
cuts in urban areas which was announced in the MTFS as a project in hand 
and whether that applies to the wildflower project which was announced in a 
press release. I think we need very clear explanation of where these two 
schemes meet, if they meet at all, and what reduction in cuts in urban areas 
are being proposed or are likely to be proposed?”  
 
Mr Pain responded as follows:  
 
I believe the answer is exceedingly clear. The current number of urban cuts 
is a minimum of six per year.  
 

 

7. POSITION STATEMENTS UNDER STANDING ORDER 8. 

The Leader gave a position statement on the following matters:   
 

 County Deal 

 UKSPF and Levelling Up Fund 

 Tackling the cost of living crisis 

 Supporting Ukrainian refugees 

 Supporting the economy and delivering economic growth 

 Fair Funding 

 Green Leicestershire 

 Talisker Whisky Atlantic Challenge 
 
A copy of the position statement is filed with these minutes. 
 

8. REPORTS OF THE CABINET 

(a) Leicestershire County Council's Strategic Plan 2022 - 2026   

 
It was moved by Mr Rushton, seconded by Mrs Posnett and carried: 
 
“That the Strategic Plan for 2022 to 2026, as set out in the Appendix A to the 

10

http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/nature


report, be approved.” 
 

(b) Leicestershire County Council's Communities Strategy - Our 
Communities Approach 2022 - 2026   

 
It was moved by Mrs Posnett, seconded by Mrs Richardson and carried: 
 
“That the Communities Strategy: Leicestershire County Council – Our 
Communities Approach 2022-2026, appended to the report, be approved.” 
 

(c) Dates of Council Meetings 2022/23 and 2023/24.   

 
It was moved by Mr Shepherd, seconded by Mr Rushton and carried: 
 
“That Council meetings in 2022/23 and 2023/24 be held on the following 
dates: - 
 

 Wednesday 6 July 2022  

 Wednesday 28 September 2022  

 Wednesday 7 December 2022  

 Wednesday 22 February 2023 (to consider the budget)  

 Wednesday 17 May 2023 (Annual meeting) 

 Wednesday 5 July 2023  

 Wednesday 27 September 2023  

 Wednesday 6 December 2023  

 Wednesday 21 February 2024 (to consider the budget)  

 Wednesday 15 May 2024 (Annual meeting)” 
 

9. TO MAKE THE FOLLOWING APPOINTMENTS IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH ITEMS 11 AND 12 OF STANDING ORDER 4: 

(a) To appoint the Leader (and to note the members which the 
Leader proposes to appoint to the Cabinet)   

 
It was moved by Mrs Taylor, seconded by Mr Shepherd and carried: 
 
“That Mr N J Rushton be appointed Leader of the Council for the period until 
the next Annual Meeting of the Council.” 
 
It was moved by Mr Rushton, seconded by Mr Shepherd and carried: 
 
“That it be noted that the Leader proposes to appoint the members named on 
List ‘1’ attached to the Order Paper as members of the Cabinet.” 
 
A copy of List 1 is filed with these minutes. 
 
 

(b) To appoint such Cabinet Support Members as the Council 
considers appropriate   

 
It was moved by Mr Rushton, seconded by Mr Shepherd: 
 

11



“That the following members be appointed as Cabinet Support Members until 
the next Annual Meeting of the County Council, as provided for in Article 7 of 
the Council’s Constitution: - 
 
Mr R. Ashman CC 
Mrs B. Seaton CC 
Mr T. Parton CC 
Mrs M. Wright CC” 
 
The motion was put and carried, 40 members voted for the motion; 9 voted 
against. 
 

(c) To appoint members of the Scrutiny Commission, Boards and 
Committees   

 
It was moved by Mr Shepherd, seconded by Mr Bray and carried: 
 
Membership 
 
“That the membership of the Scrutiny Commission, Boards and Committees 
as set out in List ‘2’ and the Chairmen Elect and Spokespersons named in 
List ‘3’ attached to the Order Paper be approved.” 
 
Substitutes 
 
“That the Chief Executive be authorised to make and terminate appointments 
to the Commission, committees, boards and other County Council bodies 
(not including the Cabinet) in accordance with the wishes of the Political 
Groups to whom the seat in question has been allocated, subject in the case 
of those bodies set out in List ‘2’ to the Group giving one day’s notice to the 
Chief Executive of its wishes.” 
 
A copy of List ‘2’ and List ‘3’ is filed with these minutes. 
 

10. TO CONSIDER THE FOLLOWING NOTICES OF MOTION: 

(a) Cost of Living in Leicestershire   

 
It was moved by Mr Hunt, seconded by Mrs Taylor and carried: 
 
“1. That this Council notes: - 
 

a) That many of the residents of the County:  
 

 are now finding it very hard to meet their domestic fuel bills; 

 are finding a rise in the price of ordinary commodities from food 
to household products; 

 are facing escalating fuel costs at the petrol stations with no 
alternative options; 

 will be receiving lower wages in real terms for the foreseeable 
future, including many working in the public sector; 

 are struggling with the latest Council Tax and National 

12



Insurance tax rises. 
 
b) That the Bank of England officially forecasts an inflation rate of 

10.2% in the fourth quarter of this year; this being based on a rise 
in fuel cap from £1,971 to £2,800 in October. 

 
c) That price rises are more likely to adversely affect those on low 

incomes living in deprived communities who will also be prey to 
the seductive loans which are often at exorbitant rates of interest. 

 
d) That the establishment of a Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 

(LLR) wide group to be chaired by a representative from the 
Leicester Cathedral and comprising the County Council, City 
Council, District Councils, Rutland, voluntary sector, NHS and the 
DWP to address the impact of the cost of living crisis, be 
welcomed. 
 

2. That this County Council requests: - 
 
a) That the LLR wide group referred to in (d) above develop an 

action plan to: 

 

 Improve debt advice and access to that advice through Contact 
Plus and other avenues. 

 Prioritise action to identify and contain illegal money lenders. 

 Widen interventions on child poverty. 

 Develop new initiatives to support struggling families. 
 

b) That this the County Council work with District Councils and others 
to explore ways to: 

 

 Optimise the distribution of the Household Support Fund. 

 Increase take up of Council Tax Support. 

 Identify any mitigation of financial risks to small businesses.” 
 

(b) Ukrainian Refugees   

 
Mr Mullaney, with the consent of the seconder of the motion, sought the 
approval of the Council to move the following altered motion:- 
 
It was moved by Mr Mullaney, seconded by Mr Galton and carried: 
 
“1.      That this Council offers its solidarity with the people of Ukraine who are 

suffering the ongoing trauma of the unprovoked aggression of the 
Russian invasion. 

 
2. That this Council welcomes the incredibly warm hearted and generous 

response from many Leicestershire residents who have taken 
Ukrainian refugees into their homes. 

 
3. That this Council notes that a number of local authorities have already 

provided free bus passes to Ukrainian refugees living in their areas 

13



and calls on the Cabinet to consider a scheme to provide free bus 
passes to those Ukrainian refugees coming to live in Leicestershire 
and, if necessary, to authorise the Chief Executive to exercise urgent 
powers after consultation with the Leader to implement an appropriate 
scheme or transport offer before the next meeting of the Cabinet.” 

 
 
 
2.00 pm – 4.45 pm CHAIRMAN 
18 May 2022 
 

14



COUNTY COUNCIL MEETING – 18TH MAY 2022 

POSITION STATEMENT FROM THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 

 
County Deal 
 
I am taking it that members will be reasonably familiar with the 
Devolution Framework in the Levelling Up White Paper and levels 1,2 
and 3.  If not, officers can forward copies.  
 
I said in my position statement to the Council in February that we wanted 
to get a deal as close as possible to level 3.  In other words, we wanted 
a deal in line to some extent with our bid which we were encouraged to 
make last year but turned out not to meet the Functional Economic Area 
test when the White Paper was published in November.  
 
I also said in February that we would be looking to work with Leicester 
and Rutland, which the White Paper suggested would be appropriate in 
our case.  
 
I am now able to inform the Council that discussions with Government 
about the scope of a bid have concluded and we are only able to bid for 
a level 2 deal.  That means that the ambitious elements which we were 
still encouraged to include after the White Paper was published, such as: 
 

 A Better Care Fund for Children and Young People  

 Gainshare funding to support road infrastructure  

 Funding for buses 

 Further funding for Broadband  
 

will have to wait for another day. 
 
That is certainly disappointing but, although it would be wrong to go into 
detail about our discussions with Government, it is clear that they see 
going for a level 2 deal as putting us in a good place to achieve further 
devolution later on.  
 
They are also clear that we should proceed from here for a level 2 bid 
covering Leicestershire, Leicester and Rutland – a non-mayoral 
combined authority to be made up of upper tier local authorities only, but 
with the district councils involved.  That is the model of authority set out 
in the White Paper and now to be taken forward in legislation.  

15



Lastly, it is clear that we are not able to join with the bid for the level 3 
mayoral deal which Nottinghamshire, Nottingham, Derbyshire and Derby 
(D2N2) are making.  
 
The next steps, we are advised, will be discussions for the upper tier 
authorities with Government officials about governance, rather than the 
content of a level 2 bid, which will follow the Devolution Framework.  I 
will be meeting with the City Mayor, the new Leader of Rutland and the 
Leaders and Deputy Leaders of the District Councils shortly and will 
keep the Council informed.  
 
UKSPF and Levelling Up fund. 
 
As part of the Government’s commitment to delivering on its Levelling 
Up agenda, the County Council and district councils can bid into two 
new funding pots this summer.  Bidding takes time and resources, but 
maximising funding coming into Leicestershire is of paramount 
importance.  That is why I have reached out to the district councils as 
they pull together Levelling Up Fund Bids and UK Shared Prosperity 
Fund Investment Plans and offered to help strengthen their proposals 
and support the coordination of bids across the County.   
 
Tackling the cost of living crisis  
 
We recognise the impact of the cost-of-living crisis on individuals and 
families across Leicestershire.  The Council has a strong record of 
supporting vulnerable households and the Deputy Leader will outline 
some of the actions taken.  
 
The Council has also been working alongside district councils to ensure 
the County doesn’t miss out on Government funding allocated to district 
councils to install energy efficiency measures in those homes most in 
need of support.  As a result, over the next year, more than £3m will be 
spent making Leicestershire’s homes warmer and tackling the crucial 
issue of rising energy prices. 
 
Later on the agenda for this meeting, there is a notice of motion which 
refers to a LLR wide group looking at how we can all work together to 
address this issue and build on the work we have already started. 
 
 
 
 

16



Supporting Ukrainian refugees  
 
I am very proud of the way Leicestershire residents have stepped up to 
support those fleeing the conflict in the Ukraine.  The way local people 
have raised money and donated goods to support those seeking refuge 
has been humbling.  An extra special mention should go to those in the 
County who have offered to host Ukrainians in their homes and I know 
that to date over 700 visa applications have been made for Ukrainians 
who will be hosted by ‘sponsors’ in Leicestershire.   A significant minority 
of these have already arrived in the County and the Council has worked 
closely with partners to make sure they are supported on their arrival. 
 
Our preparations have not been helped by the quality and timeliness of 
data provided by the Government, but I am happy to report that local 
partners are working well together to make sure that Ukrainian guests 
and their sponsors get the support they need and richly deserve.   
 
I am particularly pleased that our officers have been liaising closely with 
the Ukrainian Centre in Leicester; their input is helping the Council and 
partners to make sure that the local response is as effective as 
possible.        
 
With regard to the notice of motion on providing free bus passes we will 
look at how best to accommodate that request.  
 
Supporting the economy and delivering economic growth 
 
This Council continues to support businesses including through the 
provision of advice and guidance and providing space for innovative 
businesses to locate and expand in the County.    We are working with 
partners and the LLEP to support the local economy’s recovery from 
Covid19 and will work with partners to secure the funding we need to 
provide key infrastructure and improve skills.    
 
There is, however, an area of major concern.  Continuing to forward fund 
major schemes arising from district councils’ local plans is going to be 
incredibly difficult and impossible in some cases, with inflation making 
matters far worse than we ever imagined.  Going forward, we will need 
to be innovative in identifying sources of funding for capital, including 
working with planning authorities and developers to ensure infrastructure 
required to support economic and housing growth is fully funded and 
maintaining sound financial management of the resources that we do 
have to meet this challenge. 

17



Fair Funding 
 
The County Council continues to be one of the lowest funded authorities 
and continues to campaign for a fair funding deal, recently leading the 
formation of the F20 group. The group is made up of those authorities 
who have higher levels of council tax and lower levels of core spending 
power and we will continue with our efforts and lobbying of MPs.  
 
The Council’s financial position, both in relation to Capital and Revenue 
funds is grave.  Existing service demand pressures are being 
compounded by high inflation.  As the lowest funded Council in England, 
the Council has limited capacity to continue to invest in vital services or 
the infrastructure which Leicestershire needs. 
 
Green Leicestershire 
 
Fresh proposals designed to tackle climate change and make 
Leicestershire a net zero carbon County have been published recently. 
The draft Leicestershire Net Zero 2045 Strategy and Action Plan sets 
out Leicestershire County Council’s plan to join forces with residents, 
councils, businesses, universities and others in the race to net zero 
carbon from the County.  Tackling climate change across the whole of 
Leicestershire is too big a job for any one organisation.  This plan sets 
out how we can work together to get to net zero by 2045.   
 
A cleaner, greener Leicestershire has much wider benefits for our health 
and our economy, and everyone can make changes to help make it a 
reality.   
 
We all have a role to play - collectively, we can make a big difference!  
 
‘Talisker Whisky Atlantic Challenge’ 
 
Finally, I would like to take this opportunity to let members know that our 
colleague, Craig Smith, the County Councillor for the Coalville North 
Division is to lead a team of 4 friends taking part in what is billed as the 
“World’s Toughest Race”, the “Talisker Whisky Atlantic Challenge” – an 
incredible 3,000-mile unsupported rowing race across the Atlantic 
Ocean. 
 
The race begins in December 2025 from La Gomera, Canary Islands.  
The 40 participating crews expect to spend anywhere between 29-75 
days at sea on average.  Finishing at Nelson's Dockyard in Antigua. 

18



 
The team named “Anchor Management” will be a mixed crew of 4 and 
will be rowing non-stop, 2 hours on 2 hours off, 24 hours a day for the 
duration of the voyage.  The crew are not just aiming to complete the 
crossing safely and successfully, but to beat the current mixed crew 
World Record of 40 days and 23 hours, that was set this year by a 
British Army crew. 
 
The crew hope to raise more than £200,000 for McMillan Cancer 
support, a charity that holds special meaning to the crew, in particular 
Sarah who 7 years ago was diagnosed with Breast cancer.   As well as 
raising funds they also hope to raise awareness of the beauty and 
fragility of the Ocean and urge people to take action and to protect it for 
future generations. 
 
Craig’s crew are in the Chamber with us today and I am sure all 
members will want to wish the crew every success and assist them in 
raising funds for McMillan Cancer. 
 
 

N. J. Rushton CC 
Leader of the Council 

 

19



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT OF THE SCRUTINY COMMISSION 
 

A.  OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 
 

Introduction 
 
1. The Constitution requires that the Scrutiny Commission and Overview and 

Scrutiny Committees submit an Annual Report to the Council (or the Scrutiny 
Commission in a single report on their behalf) on their workings.  The report 
may make recommendations about future work programmes and changes in 
working methods. 
 

Annual Report 
 
2. Attached as Appendix A to this report is a copy of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Annual Report for 2021/22.  It is intended as a public facing summary of the 
key highlights of scrutiny activity undertaken during the year and serves to 
draw out the work undertaken at committee level and how this has had an 
impact. 
 

3. The Annual Report sums up a varied and busy year for Overview and Scrutiny 
with continued challenges due to the Covid pandemic.  Whilst for some of the 
year the Committees have operated remotely, we are now seeing a full return 
to face-to-face meetings.  During the last year the focus has been on the 
impact of Covid 19 on Council services and its finances as the Council looks 
to build back stronger for the future.  Recently the focus has been on 
increases in the price of goods and services which has had a significant 
impact on residents and on the Council, particularly the delivery of its capital 
programme.  The level of public interest in Overview and Scrutiny continues to 
be positive, with a number of questions and petitions being received and 
representations made by members of the public on a number of occasions. 

 
Conclusions and Looking Forward 
 
4. The work of Overview and Scrutiny remains important in holding decision 

makers such as the Cabinet to account, in ensuring that the Council’s budget 
and performance is closely monitored, and in making certain that outcomes 
are delivered for the benefit of the residents of Leicestershire. 
 

5. Looking forward to the coming year there will be an increased focus on the 
County Council’s financial outlook particularly focused on Special Educational 
Needs, the High Needs Block deficit, adult social care and the capital 
programme.  As we emerge from the pandemic, we will be looking at support 
for those parents who now choose to home educate and request plans to 
address the backlog in health screenings and increased waiting times. 
Environmental and Net Zero are key issues and we will be looking at plans for 
delivering on our commitments in these areas.  We will also be inviting the 
water companies and Environment agency to explore how we can improve the 
water quality in our rivers. 
   

21 Agenda Item 6a



(Motion to be moved: 
 
That the information contained in the Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 
2021/22, attached as Appendix A to this report, on its activities, be noted.) 

 
 

8th June 2022  Mr. M. T. Mullaney CC 
   Chairman of the Scrutiny Commission  

 
 
Background Papers 

Report to the Scrutiny Commission at its meeting on 8 June 2022 – Draft Overview 

and Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22. 

Appendix 

Appendix A - Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22 

 
 
 

22



Overview  
and Scrutiny
Annual Report 2021/22

Published July 2022

23



2  Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22

Contents
1. What is Overview and Scrutiny? 4

1.1  Principles of good scrutiny 4

1.2  Our structure 5

1.3  Your role in our work 6

1.4  How to get involved 6

1.5  How to find out more 7

2.  Scrutiny in numbers 8

3.  Scrutiny Commission 10
3.1  The Budget and monitoring financial performance 10

3.2  Corporate Asset Investment Fund (CAIF) 10

3.3  Commercial Services 11

3.4  Strategic Growth 11

3.5  Economic Growth and the LLEP 11

3.6  Policy development 12

3.7  Next Year 12

3.8  Membership and contact details 12

4. Adults and Communities 13
4.1  Budget and Demand Pressures 13

4.2  Care Home Quality 13

4.3  Digital Developments 14

4.4  Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) Shared Care 
Record 14

4.5  Care Technology Transformation 14

4.6  Performance 15

4.7  Policy Development and Service Changes 15

4.8  Next Year 15

4.9  Membership and contact details 15

5. Children and Families 16
5.1  SEND and High Needs Block Development 16

5.2  Children’s Innovation Partnership 16

5.3  Young Carers 17

5.4  Inclusion in Leicestershire Schools 17

5.5  Performance 17

5.6  Next Year 18

5.7  Membership and contact details 18

6. Environment and climate change 19
6.1  Performance 19

6.2  Environment Strategy and Carbon Commitments 19

6.3  Net Zero Carbon 2045: A Roadmap for Leicestershire 20

6.4  Resources and Waste Strategy Consultation 20

6.5  Country Parks, Open Spaces and Tree Management 20

6.6  Next Year 21

6.7  Membership and contact details 21

7. Health 22
7.1  Public Health response to the Covid-19 pandemic 22

7.2  Restoration and recovery of elective/planned care in 
Leicestershire 22

7.3  Integrated Care Systems 23

7.4  Child and Adult Health 23

7.5  Mental Health and Suicide 23

7.6  Access to Primary Care Services 24

7.7  LLR Joint Health Scrutiny Committee 24

7.8  Next Year 24

7.9  Membership and contact details 24

8. Highways and transport 25
8.1  The Budget and the Highways and Transportation 

Capital and Works Programme for 2022/23 25

8.2  Major Road Network Corridors 25

8.3  The Government’s National Bus Strategy and 
requirements for a Bus Service Improvement Plan 26

8.4  Road Casualty Reduction 26

8.5  Performance 26

8.6  Next Year 27

8.7  Membership and contact details 27

9.  Contact the Overview and Scrutiny Team 28

24



3  Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22

Foreword
By the Scrutiny Commissioners                       

We are pleased to present the Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report covering the 2021-22 municipal 
year. The report includes a summary of the role and responsibilities of Overview and Scrutiny and 
how this operates in Leicestershire, the work it has undertaken over the past year and the various 
outcomes achieved. It is not intended to be a complete commentary of everything we have done, but 
a summary of the key highlights. 

It has been another year of socially distanced Scrutiny, with the Covid 19 pandemic still affecting all 
Council services to some degree or another. Despite this, the Scrutiny Commission and the Council’s 
five other Overview and Scrutiny Committees have continued to look at a broad range of services, 
monitor performance, shape Council policy and its budget and hold our Cabinet colleagues to 
account. We also continue to provide a voice for the public and our communities.

In Leicestershire, Scrutiny Members have always provided challenge and held robust discussions 
about a variety of issues. Key recent issues have been the green agenda (having now established a 
new Environment and Climate Change Scrutiny Committee) and issues such as the war in Ukraine 
and its impact on Council services and its budget.

We would like to thank all Scrutiny Members for their commitment and contribution to the process. 
Special thanks going to the Chairs and Spokespersons who continue to drive each Committees work 
programme to address areas of concern.

We are pleased that the responsible Cabinet Members have attended our Scrutiny meetings to answer 
our questions. We are also thankful to our partners and stakeholders that have sent representatives to 
share information and their experiences.

We would also like to thank Council officers for their support and hard work in facilitating the 
Overview and Scrutiny process.

We hope you enjoy reading the report. You can find out more about our meetings on the Council’s 
website . All Scrutiny meetings are open to the public and if you would like to get involved, Scrutiny 
members and the Scrutiny teams contact details are included in this report. We encourage you to get 
in touch and add your voice to our work.

The four Scrutiny Commissioners are responsible for leading the Overview and Scrutiny process, deciding on priority 

issues for Scrutiny and areas that merit more detailed review.

Michael Mullaney CC 
Chairman of the 

Scrutiny Commission

Rosita Page CC 
Vice Chairman of the 
Scrutiny Commission

James Poland CC  
Commissioner

Max Hunt CC  
Commissioner

25

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/meetings-and-decisions/scrutiny-commission-and-committees


4  Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22

1. What is Overview and Scrutiny?

Overview and Scrutiny (Scrutiny) plays an important part in the democratic decision making process. 
Scrutiny bodies do not make decisions, but instead monitor and influence those that do (i.e. the 
Cabinet).

The Cabinet is made up of the Leader and nine other Members elected to the Council from the 
majority leading political group. It takes important key decisions and implements Council policy and 
its budget as set by the full Council. 

Scrutiny Committees are politically balanced Committees made up of non-Cabinet Members. These 
hold the Cabinet to account for the decisions it has taken or intends to take, and acts as a critical 
friend, helping to ensure the Council delivers its services efficiently and effectively. They do this by:

• Reviewing and commenting on the County Council’s budget and strategic policies.

• Undertaking pre-decision scrutiny of key matters, making recommendations for improvement 
wherever possible. 

• Monitoring and challenging the performance of services and the outcomes delivered for those living 
and working in Leicestershire.

As well as scrutinising the work of the County Council and the Cabinet, Scrutiny also has an important 
statutory role in the scrutiny of health and crime and disorder matters.

1.1  Principles of good scrutiny
The four key principles of Scrutiny as established by the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny are: 

 
To provide 

a ‘critical friend’ 
challenge to 

executive policy  
and decision 

makers.

To enable  
the voice and 
concerns of  
the public.

 
Is carried out 

by independent 
minded Members 
who lead and own 
the Scrutiny role.

Drive 
Improvements in 
public services

All our Scrutiny Members received training from the Centre of Governance and Scrutiny in Autumn 
2021 to help ensure these principles continue to be embedded into our approach to Scrutiny. 

26



5  Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22

Time limited Reviews
Time limited ReviewsTime limited Reviews

Time limited ReviewsTime limited Reviews

1.2  Our structure 
In Leicestershire all Scrutiny work is carried out by the Scrutiny Commission and five Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees which each look at a particular area of the Council’s responsibilities. These are 
as shown in the diagram below.

 
 
 
 
 

In addition to the Committee-based work they carry out, Scrutiny Committees can also initiate time 
limited pieces of work to look at a particular issue in detail. These can be informal task and finish 
groups, providing for short sharp scrutiny of a complex topic. Properly focused they ensure Members 
can swiftly reach conclusions and make recommendations perhaps over the course of a couple of 
months or less that can be considered directly by officers and Cabinet Lead Members. 

Alternatively, a formal Scrutiny Review Panel can be established. Whilst time limited, these can run 
for several months. and their recommendations, which may suggest a change in policy or service 
provision, are submitted to the relevant parent Scrutiny committee prior to consideration by the 
Cabinet.

Reports of previous Scrutiny Review Panels and Task and Finish Groups can be viewed on the 
Council’s website.

Children  
and Families

Overview 
and Scrutiny 
Committee  

Environment 
and Climate 

Change Overview 
and Scrutiny 
Committee

Health
Overview and 

Scrutiny  
Committee  

Adults and 
Communities

Overview 
and Scrutiny 
Committee  

Highways  
and Transport 

Overview 
and Scrutiny 
Committee  

Scrutiny Commission

27

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/overview-and-scrutiny/scrutiny-review-panels
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1043
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1043
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1043
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1043
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1043
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1292
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1292
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1292
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1292
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1292
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1045
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1045
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1045
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1045
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1040
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1040
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1040
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1040
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1040
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1293
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1293
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1293
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1293
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1293
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=137


6  Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22

 
 Scrutiny committee in action: 

 
In 2021/22 a task and finish group was established to look at the Council’s Ways of 
Working Programme. The Programme will see a significant shift in how the Council 
operates and Members were keen to understand the impact of this on staff, residents, 
service users and elected Members. 
 
The Group provided challenge and highlighted a number of risks to the Programme. 
Officers provided significant reassurance on many issues. However, the Group made 18 
recommendations which have now been passed to the Director of Corporate Resources and 
the Lead Member for Covid Recovery and Ways of Working for action. A copy of the report 
can be found here

1.3  Your role in our work
Our committees work to ensure the Council and its partners are delivering the right policies and 
services that will benefit Leicestershire residents and service users. They do this by:

• Inviting partners, stakeholder representatives and external experts to contribute evidence to 
broaden Members’ understanding and inform their discussions.

• Having co-opted members on the Children and Family Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
representing parent governors, Catholic Dioceses and Church of England maintained schools.

• Using Scrutiny Members’ local knowledge from within their communities to question decision 
makers (i.e. Cabinet Lead Members) and officers.

• Ensuring transparency by holding meetings in public and webcasting these live via the Council’s 
YouTube channel

1.4  How to get involved
Overview and Scrutiny Committees provide a voice for the people of Leicestershire and allow the 
public to have a greater direct say in Council matters, and in areas which the Council is able to 
influence. Attendance and involvement of the public is actively encouraged, and this can be done by:

• Attending a meeting – Members of the public are welcome to attend any public meeting of a 
Scrutiny Committee, details of which are listed on the online meeting calendar

• Asking a question – all Scrutiny Committees allow for public questions at the beginning of each 
meeting. If you wish to ask a question, please see our online guidance on how to submit a question.

• Submitting a petition – all Scrutiny Committees can receive petitions relating to an area that 
the council has authority over. It can be submitted by anyone who lives, works, or studies in 
Leicestershire and can be submitted in writing or as an e-petition. For further details, see our  
online guidance on how to submit a petition

• Identifying issues which a Scrutiny Committee might look at (particularly through a specific review).

• Providing evidence to inform Scrutiny (either in writing or in person).

• Contributing to consultations, surveys, workshops and/or focus groups. 

28

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/overview-and-scrutiny/scrutiny-review-panels
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/public-involvement/watch-council-meetings-online
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgCalendarMonthView.aspx?GL=1&bcr=1
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/public-involvement/council-meetings#question
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/public-involvement/petitions


7  Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22

 
 Scrutiny committee in action: 

 
A proposal by the Health Service to close a medical centre in Leicester Forest East and 
require patients to travel to Lubbesthorpe understandably caused considerable concern to 
the local community. A petition containing 1284 signatures was submitted to the Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  
 
In response the Committee asked the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) to come before 
it to explain the proposals and address the concerns raised by the petitioners.  
 
As a result, the CCG has undertaken to look again at the proposal and in particular how 
patients could access transport if the original proposal were to go ahead. The Committee 
will be receiving an update on this matter and will want to ensure that any proposal 
recognise and mitigate the impact on patients accessing GP services particularly for those 
who do not have access to private transport.

1.5  How to find out more

Find out more about how Overview and Scrutiny works by accessing our Overview and  
Scrutiny Guide on the Council’s website.

If you wish to get involved, you can contact a member of the Scrutiny Team or a Member  
of one of the Committees, details of which are included in this report further below.

leicestershire.gov.uk/scrutiny

29

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2019/3/4/Chairman-and-Deputy-Chairman-job-description.pdf
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2019/3/4/Chairman-and-Deputy-Chairman-job-description.pdf


8  Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22

2.  Scrutiny in numbers

There are currently 55 councillors elected to Leicestershire County Council to represent the residents 
of Leicestershire. Of those 38 are appointed to the Scrutiny Commission and five other Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees, providing critical friend challenge to the Cabinet. 

Figure 1 Types of Scrutiny undertaken in 2021/22

                   

Policy 
development

11%

Pre-decision  
scrutiny

16%

Assurance
37%

Information
13%

Performance  
monitoring

13%

Post-decision 
scrutiny

2%

 

Leicestershire County Council continues to be committed to allowing residents full insight into its 
decision making. All our Scrutiny Committees are held in public, allowing people to attend in person 
to view the debate. 

Meetings are also publicly broadcast live, and the recordings can be found on the Council’s website 
where they are available to view in perpetuity. See the Council’s YouTube channel.

Over a quarter of the reports considered by the Council’s Scrutiny Committees were on matters 
subsequently presented to and determined by the Cabinet, which means those decisions were taken 
with the benefit of input from Scrutiny. 

Significant assurance was also sought throughout the year, and performance was heavily monitored. 
Scruitny Committees have also continued to seek more information on key issues affecting residents. 

2,060
Webcast views

121
reports  

considered

29
Committee  

meetings held

21
Comments  

submitted to  
Cabinet

46
Hours of  

public debate

34
questions submitted 

by members and  
the public

30

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/public-involvement/watch-council-meetings-online


9  Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22

Questions have continued to come in from our residents and from fellow elected members covering 
a broad range of topics as demonstrated here. We continue to welcome public engagement in our 
meetings and encourage residents to get involved.

Successful Scrutiny depends on good debate and challenge and asking the right questions of those 
who take decisions, including Lead Members as well as senior managers and council officers. The 
responsible Cabinet Members have attended every Scrutiny Committee meeting throughout 2021/22 
to answer our questions.

Importantly, we also need to hear from external organisations and groups. In 2021/22 representations 
were received from a broad range of organisations and individuals. We also had many representatives 
of these organisations attend our meetings to provide information and answer our questions. Some of 
those organisations are shown here. 

31



10  Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22

3.  

Scrutiny  
Commission

The Scrutiny Commission reviews the overall strategic direction and corporate 
policies and priorities of the Cabinet and Council, including the budget and its 
four-year Medium Term Financial Strategy.

Full details of the Commission’s work can be found on the Council’s website.

3.1  The Budget and monitoring financial performance
The central role of the Commission is to monitor the financial health of the Council. It has been 
another demanding year with many challenges having been presented by the pandemic and 
factors such as rising costs and inflation. As pressure on the Council’s finances grows, the Scrutiny 
Commission has:

• Received a report on the Council’s financial position at each of its meetings throughout 2021/22.

• Submitted its views to the Cabinet on the Council’s budget proposals for the next four years.

• Questioned progress being made in the Council’s campaign for fair funding.

• Raised concerns about the continued rise in SEND (Special Educational Needs and Disabilities) 
costs and the increasing High Needs Block deficit. This is a national problem, and the Commission 
has asked the Cabinet Lead Member for Resources to continue to pursue with Government and 
local MPs the need for a SEND funding review. Separately it has asked the Children and Family’s 
Scrutiny Committee to consider how the issue is being managed locally (see below).

• Requested more information on:

 – the likely impact of cost and inflationary pressures on delivery of the Council’s capital programme;

 – how risks arising from infrastructure projects will be managed, especially where the Council is 
required to match fund Government grants; 

 – how it is sharing infrastructure risks with district councils and ensuring adequate section 106 
developer contributions are being secured to repay any forward funding.

• Received a detailed briefing on Capital Programme delivery challenges and risks which also 
covered some of the concerns raised by the Highways and Transport Scruitny Committee regarding 
infrastructure funding pressures (see below). 

3.2  Corporate Asset Investment Fund (CAIF)
The Commission looked at the performance of the CAIF and was consulted on two specific Fund 
investment proposals. The Commission:

• Was reassured by the performance of the Fund which had generated an overall return of 6.1% 
despite economic pressures. 

32

https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=137


11  Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22

• Challenged the approach to invest into the Fund at a time of considerable financial pressure, 
especially on the Capital Programme. 

• Heard how each investment decision was looked at to ensure long term benefits outweighed 
any potential short-term gain and that the approach was kept under review as market conditions 
changed. 

• Received assurances on two planned investments in private debt and infrastructure funds that 
these would align with the Council’s environmental and social policies. 

3.3  Commercial Services
The Commission considered the performance of Leicestershire Traded Services (LTS) which had been 
hard hit by the pandemic and national and local lockdowns imposed during 2020 and 2021. The 
Commission:

• Noted that a number of staff had been furloughed during 2020/21 and that the Service has been 
reshaped to reduce costs and make it more resilient to changing circumstances in the future. 

• Was pleased to see that the LTS School Meal Service had vastly improved since the Scrutiny 
Review Panel held in 2014 and despite the pandemic, had generated an income for the Council 
and been one of only two providers awarded gold standard by the Soil Association.

• Requested that improvements be made to provide more financial and management information 
in future reports, such as capital costs and forecasted returns, as well as a breakdown of income 
across geographical areas. 

3.4  Strategic Growth
The Commission heard from the Head of the Growth Service and the Joint Strategic Planning 
Manager for Leicester and Leicestershire about the key strategic planning and growth related matters 
affecting the Council. The Commission:

• Raised several concerns about increased housing numbers to be delivered by Leicester City Council 
and the real impact this would have on districts that would have to meet an increased unmet need.  

• Sought more information on how the Council’s Growth Service was managing these risks and 
ensuring infrastructure demands arising from growth were in line with the Council’s own financial 
capabilities. 

• Was reassured to see the proactive approach being taken by the Council’s Growth Service and in 
partnership with Leicester City Council and the district councils. 

• Challenged how growth plans align with the Council’s environment and zero carbon targets; 
something that it will continue to do in support of the work of the new Environment and Climate 
Change Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

3.5  Economic Growth and the LLEP
The Director of the LLEP, and Chair of the LLEP Board were invited to a Commission meeting to 
outline the progress it was making in delivering its priorities for 2022. The Commission:

• Was pleased to hear about the support it provided to local businesses, and it’s work with young 
people and education bodies to match provision with local job market requirements. 

• Challenged and was satisfied with the LLEP’s processes for funding projects and its arrangements 
for monitoring and measuring outputs for the benefit of the local economy. 

• Provided comments on the LLEP’s Economic Growth Strategy. The Commission raised a number of 
concerns which were subsequently accepted by the Cabinet. 

33



12  Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22

3.6  Policy development
The Commission helped shape the following Council plans and strategies by submitting its views and 
recommendations to the Cabinet on the following:

• The Strategic Plan 2022 - 2026 

• The Leicestershire Communities Approach 2022 - 2026 

• The Domestic Abuse Reduction Strategy 2022 - 2025 

3.7  Next Year
The Commission will continue to monitor the Council’s financial performance with particular focus on 
SEND and the High Needs Block deficit, adult social care, and the Capital Programme. Specifically, 
as the most significant part of the Capital Programme relates to Highways, the Commission will 
continue to monitor and challenge officers and the relevant Lead Members on this area alongside the 
new Highways and Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

The Commission has asked to hear again from Leicester City Council on its local plan proposals and 
has requested a further report setting out the outcome of work commissioned by the partnership 
Members Advisory Group so it can better understand the growth demands that lie ahead. This will be 
received later in 2022.

The Commission will continue to monitor LTS’ performance and challenge CAIF investments.

3.8  Membership and contact details
• Tom Barkley CC

• Hilary Fryer CC  

• Simon Galton CC  

• Tony Gillard CC  

• Max Hunt CC 

• Jonathan Morgan CC  

• Michael Mullaney CC  (Chairman)

• Rosita Page CC (Vice Chairman)

• Trevor Pendleton CC  

• James Poland CC 

• Terry Richardson CC  

34

https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=7478
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=6674
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=279
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=928
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=273
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=6673
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=2319
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=385
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=2321
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=6675
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=5289


13  Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22

4.  

Adults and 
Communities

This Committee exercises the Scrutiny function in relation to services provided 
by the Adults and Communities Department. It also monitors the activities of the 
Health and Wellbeing Board aimed at improving the integration of health and 
social care services.

Full details of the Committee’s work can be found on the Council’s website.

4.1  Budget and Demand Pressures 
The Adults and Communities Department has faced another challenging year mostly because of the 
Covid-19 pandemic and rising costs, inflation, and demand for services. There has inevitably been 
a concerning impact on the Department’s budget requiring the Department to put forward its single, 
largest growth request ever. The Committee has therefore: 

• Considered a report specifically regarding the demand pressures on the Department’s forecasted 
budget for 2021/22.

• Raised questions about the increased number of non-self-funded residents being admitted to care 
homes and the impact this might have on the Council’s budget going forward.

• Expressed concerns that the Council’s low funded position meant Leicestershire spent considerably 
less on adult social care than other comparator authorities.

• Considered the risks and challenges faced by care providers arising from inflation and sought 
reassurance on  
how the Department was working with the adult social care market to agree that fee levels set are 
reasonable.

• Noted a report on the Government’s Health and Social Care Levy introduced in April 2022.

4.2  Care Home Quality
Given the severe impact of the pandemic on care homes the Committee requested information 
on sustainability and care home quality in Leicestershire and looked at the impact of mandatory 
Covid-19 vaccination for people working in care homes. The Committee:

• Requested future periodic updates on Care Quality Commission (CQC) ratings of adult social care 
providers in Leicestershire and any impact on care market sustainability.

• Received an update on how the CQCs new Strategy was expected to affect the Department’s 
processes and practices across a range of areas, including commissioning. 

• Raised concerns about the additional stress that regulations requiring everyone working in a care 
home to be fully vaccinated against Covid-19 would put on such homes, noting, however, the 
support the Department had given to providers and that vaccine uptake had been good.

35

https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1040


14  Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22

• Supported a recommendation to undertake a review of care home fees for implementation in April 
2023, when Covid-19 related costs would be better known.

4.3  Digital Developments
The Committee has considered several reports relating to the work of the Department to develop its 
digital strategy. The Committee:

• Welcomed the positive work the Department had been undertaking to develop its digital approach 
to enhance the services it was able to offer.

• Was pleased to hear that the Department’s digital offer was not intended to replace existing 
services but would instead be complementary. 

• Highlighted the need to sustain focus on who the end user of the technology would be and the 
need to ensure the technology worked for the whole community, including Black, Asian, and 
Minority Ethnic communities.

• Was pleased to hear that the views of those involved (such as service users and care providers) 
would be regarded as critical to the success of the Strategy and that engagement through existing 
customer and focus groups would therefore be carried out at the appropriate stages.

4.4  Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) Shared Care Record
The Committee invited the LLR Care Record Programme Manager from the NHS to give a specific 
update on the development of a local Shared Care Record so that the Committee could better 
understand the scope of the project and the difficulties faced in its implementation. The Committee:

• Raised concern about the potential for information on a person’s medical record to be out of date, 
noting that the this was the responsibility of clinical and care staff.

• Requested further information to confirm the data categories that were legally restricted and would 
therefore not routinely be shared via the LLR Shared Care Record.

• Noted that whilst it would not be possible for a person to withdraw particular parts of their Record, 
objections to share certain information could be raised with the relevant local organisation and an 
option to ‘opt out’ of being registered entirely was being developed.

4.5  Care Technology Transformation
The Committee welcomed representatives from Hampshire County Council (HCC) and its strategic 
partner, PA Consulting Group, who are working with the Council to develop its own Care Technology 
Transformation project. The Committee:

• Noted that in the event a person expressed dissatisfaction with the service, there would be follow-
up action with users to identify and resolve issues wherever possible.

• Noted that the process of ‘lessons learnt’ was continual and the service would work flexibly to 
adapt to individual need.

• Raised concerns that some might be resistant to having digital care technology installed in their 
homes but gained assurance that the approach would be person focussed and not equipment lead.

• Noted that whilst the initial focus of re-modelling the Council’s service would be on providing 
services for elderly and frail people, but there would be potential to extend the focus to other 
cohorts in the future, such as those with early-stage dementia.

36



15  Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22

4.6  Performance
The Committee has continued to monitor the performance of services across the Adults and 
Communities Department as well as look at complaints received. The Committee:

• Was pleased to see that many performance indicators continued to be met despite the difficulties 
faced by the Department over the last two years due to the pandemic.

• Considered the increase in admissions to residential and nursing care.

• Requested further analysis be undertaken into e-book loan figures for adults and juniors and 
whether there was any indication that an increase in e-book loan activity had an impact on 
children’s reading levels.

• Raised questions about the percentage of people with learning disabilities in employment, noting 
the impact of Covid 19 on the uptake of services such as day services and asked for a further 
report on this issue. 

4.7  Policy Development and Service Changes
The Committee has helped shaped the following Council strategies and policies and departmental 
service changes by submitting its views and recommendations to the Cabinet on the following:

• The Strategic Plan 2022 - 2026 (comments initially submitted to the Scrutiny Commission)

• Charging for Social Care and Support Policy

• Procurement of Community Life Choices Services

• Provision of Short Breaks and Supported Living Services

4.8  Next Year
We will continue to monitor the impact of demand and cost pressures on the Departments budget, as 
well as the implementation of the new Home Care for Leicestershire service.

Further consideration will be given to the Government’s plans to reform Adult Social Care and the 
Committee will submit its views and recommendations to the consultation on the refreshed LLR 
Carers’ Strategy for 2022-26. 

We will also receive a report as requested on support provided to local people with learning 
disabilities to help them find employment.

4.9  Membership and contact details
• Linda Broadley CC  

• Barry Champion CC  

• Nick Chapman CC (Vice Chairman) 

• Ross Hills CC  

• Jewel Miah CC  

• Terry Richardson CC  (Chairman) 

• Amanda Wright CC  

37

https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=6682
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=9907
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=9908
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=9909
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=932
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=5289
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=6678


16  Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22

5.  

Children  
and Families 

This Committee scrutinises the services provided by the Children and Family 
Services Department to children, young people and families as well as 
education, special needs and safeguarding matters.

Full details of the Committee’s work can be found on the Council’s website. 

5.1  SEND and High Needs Block Development
The Committee has continued to consider how the Service is helping children and young people 
with SEND and their families, against a backdrop of rising costs and demand for such services 
which continues to be one of the biggest financial challenges facing the Council. The Committee has 
therefore:

• Monitored financial performance within SEND services with a particular focus on the High Needs 
Block Development programme aimed at reforming services to address the financial pressures 
faced. Over the last three years, £20m has been invested in SEND provision but more was still 
required given the continued rise in demand.

• Was pleased with positive progress being made against the Written Statement of Action through 
the LLR SEND Joint Commissioning Strategy, Neurodevelopmental Pathway and the Education, 
Health and Care (EHC) plan statutory assessment process.

• Commended the success in the restructuring of the Special Educational Needs Assessment and 
Commissioning Service (SENA) which had already begun to have a positive impact on service 
users.

• Raised concerns around the need to ensure that children with SEND whose parents have chosen to 
home educate are properly supported and monitored.

• Requested further reports on progress in the implementation of the Neurodevelopmental Pathway 
and data relating to potential delays to services arising from the Covid-19 pandemic.

• Considered and commented on the findings of the local area SEND Peer Challenge.

• Was pleased to hear that additional support had been secured to enable the Service to better audit 
and provide greater assurance on the quality of Education, Health and Care Plan provision, recruit 
more and introduce a new case system. The Committee will continue to monitor the position, but it 
was expected that such developments would address weaknesses in the current system.

5.2  Children’s Innovation Partnership
• The Committee received an update on the work of the Children’s Innovation Partnership with 

Barnados, focused on the residential design brief. The Committee:

• Welcomed the positive financial benefits arising from reduced placement costs and social worker 
time and travel to out of county placements.

38

https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1043


17  Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22

• Received reassurance that the care and assessment needs of children placed for a long period in a 
residential home were being met, even when permanency plans were delayed.

• Reassurance was received that all children in care had a care plan in place and a trajectory plan to 
help them get to their permanent home.

5.3  Young Carers
The Committee requested a report on work taking place to identify, assess and support young carers 
across Leicestershire, given the likely impact and potential isolation of such young people during the 
Covid-19 pandemic. The Committee:

• Raised concerns about the effect caring for a family member can have on a young person’s health, 
in particular their mental health.

• Was pleased to hear that schools took a proactive approach in making referrals to the service when 
they identified a young person as a carer though this had been difficult during the pandemic.

• Was reassured that the Service was doing all it could to support young carers and to encourage 
them to come forward, though it was recognised that many remained unidentified and some feared 
or did not wish to be identified. 

• Was pleased to hear that the service openly recognised and was working to address concerns of 
young carers who were often anxious and sometimes scared of coming forward for fear that they 
will be taken into care. 

• Noted plans to incentivise unidentified young carers to come forward and engage with the Service 
and to better promote the benefits of accessing support available.

5.4  Inclusion in Leicestershire Schools
The Committee sought further information on the functions of the Inclusion Service and the new 
strategic duty to promote the education of all children known to a social worker. The Committee:

• Was pleased to hear that the Inclusion Service worked with families in the early stages following 
the parents request to elect to home educate their child, to ensure the best decision was being 
made for the child and to be certain that the parents were clear in terms of their role and 
responsibilities for the child’s education.

• Noted that checks would be conducted to ensure correct processes were in place and any 
safeguarding concerns or other issues raised by other agencies or within the community 
investigated.

• Raised concern around the number of children on roll in Leicestershire Schools who did not attend 
their catchment school, noting this was not uncommon due to parental choice.

• Sought reassurance that where possible the Council would work to ensure children of primary age 
could access their closest school or would be supported to access the next closest school.

5.5  Performance
The Committee has continued to monitor the performance of all services provided by the Children and 
Family Services Department throughout the year. In response, the Committee:

• Raised concerns over the percentage of children becoming subject to a child protection plan for a 
second or subsequent time whilst noting that the rate was decreasing.

• Queried the impact of Covid-19 on the number of young people not in education, employment, or 
training.

39



18  Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22

• Questioned what actions were being taken to improve the percentage of children in care who had 
not had a dental check, this having fallen during the pandemic.

• Considered reports on the performance of the Council’s Fostering and Adoption Services. 

• Commented on the findings of the Independent Reviewing Officer on the extent to which the 
Council had fulfilled its responsibilities to children in its care during the year.

• Looked at the performance of Virtual School and heard from the Virtual School Head regarding its 
work and performance. 

• Received a report on the service quality and outcomes achieved by the work of the LLR 
Safeguarding Children Partnership Board, including performance against the priorities set out in the 
Partnerships Business Plan. 

5.6  Next Year
The Committee will continue to monitor performance within SEND provision against the Written 
Statement of Action, particularly in High Needs Block Development, as a key priority.

• Given the rise in home schooling since the Covid-19 pandemic, the Committee will further review 
figures for, and support to children whose parents chose to home educate.

• The Committee has requested an update on work being done to tackle sexual and criminal 
exploitation amongst children and will continue to monitor the position regarding Child Protection 
Plans.

5.7  Membership and contact details
• Mark Frisby CC  

• Hilary Fryer CC (Chairman) 

• Leon Hadji-Nikolaou CC  

• Ross Hills CC  

• Betty Newton CC  

• Craig Smith CC (Vice Chairman) 

• Geoff Welsh CC

Education Representatives - 
• Canon Carolyn Lewis (Church of England Representative)

• Neil Lockyer (Roman Catholic Church Representative)

• Robert Martin (Parent Governor)

40

https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=9898
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=6674
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=9899
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=9909
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=383
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=9896
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=2312


19  Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22

6.  

Environment  
and climate change 

This Committee was established in July 2021, with responsibility to scrutinise 
Waste Management Services and the Councils green agenda, including its 
pledge to become carbon neutral by 2030 and ‘net zero’ countywide by 2045. 

Full details of the Committee’s work can be found on the Council’s website.

6.1  Performance
A key function of this new Committee is to monitor the Council’s performance in the delivery of its 
environmental targets. The Committee has welcomed the number of initiatives in place or planned. 
The Committee has recognised that the targets set are challenging and has:

• Received a report at each of its meetings on environment and waste performance.

• Looked at the Council’s Greenhouse Gas emissions during 2020-2021.

• Queried Leicestershire’s low performance in energy efficient ratings for existing homes and 
encouraged the promotion of the Government’s Green Homes Grant for eligible residents on the 
council’s website.

• Raised concerns about the low number of rivers deemed to be in good chemical status, a matter 
within the responsibility of the Environment Agency.

• Welcomed the reduction in electricity consumed across Council buildings which was ahead of 
target but raised concerns about the increase in gas and biomass consumption which was behind 
target. 

• Monitored the plateau and slightly reduced levels in household waste reuse, recycling, and 
composting, commenting on the Council’s new Resources and Waste Strategy which would 
hopefully work to address this.

• Emphasised the need to reinforce the collective message that reducing waste and eliminating our 
carbon impact is everyone’s responsibility.

6.2  Environment Strategy and Carbon Commitments
As a new Committee we took an early look at the Council’s current position in delivering its own 
Environment Strategy. The Committee:

• Welcomed the work done to date to reduce the Council’s emissions meaning it was currently on 
track to reach net zero by 2030, noting, however, that the next step to deal with the Council’s 
unmeasured emissions will be more difficult.

• Noted that the County Council’s emissions were only a fraction of Leicestershire’s emissions and 
progress would depend on wider Government policy changes and the Council’s work with partners 
in the area.

41

https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1292


20  Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22

• Supported the Councils work with UK100 to lobby Government for top-down change.

• Requested that officers overlay the Air Quality and Biodiversity maps to allow the Committee to 
consider any correlation between the two. 

• Welcomed the Council’s approach to look at alternative fuels such as electric and hydrogen for its 
fleet. 

6.3  Net Zero Carbon 2045: A Roadmap for Leicestershire
The Committee has taken an early look at the key findings from the Net Zero Carbon 2045 Roadmap 
for Leicestershire -research into greenhouse gas emissions from the whole County. The Committee:

• Recognised that achievement of net zero across the County by 2045 could not be done by the 
Council alone and so welcomed the focus on partnership working.

• Welcomed the potential development of a Citizens Assembly, to engender awareness and action 
with public and local organisations.

• Agreed the need for the Council, in its place leadership role, to evidence and communicate clearly 
to organisations and the public that it is in their best interests financially and environmentally to 
address climate issues and to support smaller organisations that may not have the skills to do this 
wherever possible. 

6.4  Resources and Waste Strategy Consultation
The Committee received a briefing on the current Strategy and provided comments to the Cabinet on 
the revised Strategy for 2022 - 2050. The Committee:

• Raised concerns that the Council did not put enough emphasis on reduction within its Waste 
Strategy compared to re-use and recycle.

• Heard about and commended the positive local initiatives taking place, such as Plastic Free Oadby, 
which looked to reduce the use of plastic containers and bags in their local area.

• Expressed disappointment at the decision to cut the budget for recycling education.

• Challenged the Leicestershire Waste Partnership to work collaboratively through education and 
enforcement to address littering and fly-tipping, noting that only two out of seven districts had a 
litter strategy in place. 

• Was of the view that different waste collection services across the seven districts acted as a 
barrier for clear consistent advice to residents and contributed to performance being below the 
Government target of 65% for municipal waste recycled by 2035. It is hoped that Government 
plans for weekly food waste collections and set standards for rubbish and recycling collections will 
support more consistent messaging that will help improve performance in this area.

• Heard about how difficulties caused by the contamination of recycled waste and emphasised the 
need to educate the public on what could be recycled through improved communications. 

6.5  Country Parks, Open Spaces and Tree Management
The Committee has considered actions taken to deliver the Council’s Country Parks and Open Spaces 
Strategy, both of which were affected by the Covid-19 pandemic. It has also looked at delivery of the 
Council’s Tree Management Strategy, with the challenging target to plant 700,000 trees by 2030. 
The Committee:

• Welcomed grass land management schemes which would introduce wildflower coverage and help 
address the County’s poor biodiversity levels resulting from historic farmland use.

42



21  Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22

• Noted that the Woodland Management Plans which managed biodiversity and amenity within 
specific sites were only ‘mostly’ in place, as some sites were small and so not captured by the Plans 
or were outside the Council’s control.

• Heard about partnership work with district councils and others through the regional Midlands Park 
Forum.

• Welcomed the review of the current tree planting policy which would look at allowing tree planting 
on highway verges, an issue Members had lobbied for previously.

• Welcomed the interactive tree planting map which would allow communities monitor progress and 
get involved where possible. 

6.6  Next Year
The issue of quality of water in our rivers and waterways is of great concern and we will look to invite 
water companies and the Environment Agency to better understand the issues and look for ways to 
improve water quality. 

We will continue to comment on the Net Zero Strategy development, monitor tree planting progress 
and progress on the Leicestershire Resources and Waste Strategy. 

6.7  Membership and contact details
• Bill Boulter CC

• Nick Chapman CC  

• Mark Frisby CC  (Vice-Chair) 

• Amanda Hack CC  

• Bertie Harrison-Rushton CC  

• Rosita Page CC  

• Trevor Pendleton CC  (Chairman) 

43

https://public.tableau.com/views/Leicestershiretreeplantingsurvey/HeadlinesPublic?:language=en-GB&:display_count=n&:origin=viz_share_link&:showVizHome=no
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=300
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=9908
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=9898
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=6668
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=9902
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=385
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=2321


22  Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22

7.  

Health 
This Committee reviews and scrutinises matters relating to the planning, 
provision, and operation of health services in the County of Leicestershire. This 
includes primary, secondary, tertiary care, and public health, and may involve 
reviewing the work of commissioners (such as the local clinical commissioning 
groups), providers of health services (such as hospitals) and other organisations 
in the health sector.

Full details of the Committee’s work can be found on the Council’s website.

7.1  Public Health response to the Covid-19 pandemic
At each meeting over the past year the Committee has held the Director of Public Health to account 
for the actions taken by the Department in response to the Covid-19 pandemic, obtaining information 
and reassurance on the following:

• Covid-19 infection rates in Leicestershire and the location of outbreaks.

• Latest guidance for schools and care homes and outbreak management plans.

• The vaccination programme, booster programme, the availability of clinics, and raising concerns 
about the slow progress of the vaccination programme for 12-15 year olds.

• Communications and social media urging people to come forward to be vaccinated and in 
particular reaching those who did not have access to the internet or for whom English was not their 
first language.

7.2  Restoration and recovery of elective/planned care in Leicestershire
The Covid-19 pandemic led to medical procedures being postponed, resulting in large backlogs and 
waiting lists. We looked at plans the University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust (UHL) and the local 
Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) have to reduce this and:

• Noted that there had been long waiting lists prior to the Covid-19 pandemic and was therefore 
pleased that the plan was not to return the waiting lists to the pre-pandemic position but actually 
improve on that.

• Welcomed the approach to service restoration including the new pathways and the opening of two 
new Vanguard theatres.

• Raised concerns that the condition of patients could worsen whilst they were on a waiting list and 
could ultimately require more invasive treatment once they finally got an appointment. Reassurance 
was given that patients on waiting lists were clinically reviewed and provided with physical and 
emotional support whilst they were waiting.

• Raised concerns regarding the waiting lists for cancer treatment but welcomed the improvement in 
performance over the year, particularly for breast cancer patients which meant that by the end of 
March 2022 the average waiting time was expected to have reduced from 4 weeks to 2 weeks.

44

https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1045


23  Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22

7.3  Integrated Care Systems
The Health and Care Bill which has been passing through Parliament proposes to create Integrated 
Care Systems (ICS) which are partnerships between the organisations that meet health and care 
needs across an area. Over the last year the Committee has sought information from the local CCGs 
on how it is proposed that the ICS for LLR will be structured, and it has sought reassurances that 
there will be strong local authority representation on the ICS. The Committee:

• Was pleased that the ICS would build on existing partnership work in the area, bringing together 
health, social care, and public health colleagues. 

• Raised concerns regarding the configuration of neighbourhoods which were a key component of 
the ICS, particularly as they crossed the boundaries of district councils and questioned whether this 
could hinder partnership working. 

7.4  Child and Adult Health
The Committee was consulted on proposals for the re-commissioning of the 0 – 19 Healthy Child 
Programme and the provision of services for children, young people, and adults with eating disorders. 
The Committee:

• Sought reassurance that conversations were being held with headteachers of schools and 
academies regarding mental health and wellbeing support available to children and young people.

• Requested a further report on the wider work of the Public Health Department to support children 
at an early age.

• Raised concerns regarding childhood obesity and questioned what was being done to ensure 
parents had the necessary skills to raise healthy children.

• Considered the need to prioritise tackling alcohol misuse, as well as substance misuse, in young 
people. 

• Considered the rise in referrals for eating disorders during the Covid-19 pandemic in both children 
and adults; thought to be the result of a general rise in anxiety and increased use of social media 
during this period.

• Was pleased to hear about a pilot the First Episode Rapid Early Intervention for Eating Disorders 
(FREED) pathway aimed to prevent first episode cases being on a waiting list.

7.5  Mental Health and Suicide
The Committee has taken an interest in mental health issues, both generally, and specifically in 
relation to the Covid-19 pandemic. With regards to the work on mental health and suicide the 
Committee:

• Sought and received assurance that high-risk groups were being supported and popular suicide 
locations were being monitored.

• Welcomed the survey by Healthwatch Leicester and Leicestershire in relation to the patient 
experience of accessing mental health services during the Covid-19 pandemic.

• Reviewed the options available to a patient at a time of mental health crisis.

• Was pleased to hear that the new Central Access Point was working well but challenged the level of 
public awareness of the service despite the LPT having carried out a communications campaign to 
improve this. 

45



24  Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22

• Heard about support for the Armed Forces, in particular support offered to veterans and how GP 
Practices and Central Access Point across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland ensured patients/
callers were asked if they were armed forces veterans so they could be appropriately signposted – a 
step beyond the current legal requirements.

7.6  Access to Primary Care Services
Patients struggling to access primary care services at GP Practices across Leicestershire was and 
remains a key concern and the Committee:

• Was pleased to hear that the number of face-to-face appointments available was increasing and 
that the CCGs were working closely with those practices that were struggling to provide a normal 
service after the pandemic. 

• Welcomed plans to phase out the requirement for patients to call at 8.00am to make an 
appointment. 

• Received reassurances that the quality of care provided by GP Practices was being monitored by 
the CCGs.

7.7  LLR Joint Health Scrutiny Committee
Members of the County Council’s Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee also sit on the Joint 
Health Scrutiny Committee which scrutinises major health issues which relate to the whole of the LLR 
area. This Committee is managed by Leicester City Council. Topics the Committee has covered during 
2021/22 have included:

• UHL Acute and Maternity Reconfiguration;

• Covid-19 vaccination programme;

• Step up to Great Mental Health consultation;

• Integrated Care Systems;

• Misstatement of UHL’s accounts.

7.8  Next Year
The Committee will continue to monitor the recovery of health services after the Covid-19 pandemic. 
It will specifically look at the backlogs in cancer screening programmes and actions being taken to 
catch those persons missed during the pandemic. 

As part of the LLR Joint Health Scrutiny Committee Members will continue to monitor progress 
with the UHL Acute and Maternity Reconfiguration, the work being carried out to improve the 
governance of UHL’s finances and accuracy of their accounts, and the implementation of the ICS for 
Leicestershire.

7.9  Membership and contact details
• Stuart Bray CC  

• Fula (Kamal) Ghattoraya CC  

• Daniel Grimley CC  

• Amanda Hack CC  

• Phil King CC (Vice Chairman) 

• Jonathan Morgan CC  (Chairman) 

• Craig Smith CC  

46

https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=926
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=9910
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=9903
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=6668
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=9904
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=6673
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=9896


25  Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22

8.  

Highways  
and transport 

This Committee scrutinises the Council’s highways and transportation services. 

Full details of the Committee’s work can be found on the Council’s website.

8.1  The Budget and the Highways and Transportation Capital and Works 
Programme for 2022/23
The Department faces increased financial pressure with increasing demand and rising costs. The 
Committee therefore took a detailed look at the Department’s proposed Highway and Transport 
budget for the next four years and specifically it’s capital programme which accounts for over 60% of 
the Council’s overall capital budget. The Committee:

• Raised concerns and sought more information regarding the significant growth in spend on SEND 
transport which amounts to one third of the Council’s transportation budget.

• Raised questions and concerns about the future viability of the public transport market given the 
impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic on passenger numbers which had fallen significantly during 
2020/21. 

• Raised concerns about the risk of bus operators deregistering all or part of the service currently 
provided and the potential impact this might have on the Council’s budget.

• Raised concerns that the level of Government funding and the additional funding provided by the 
Council would not be sufficient to meet all the highways and transport infrastructure measures 
needed for a growing population and to fulfil the Council’s wider growth agenda. 

• Remained concerned about the low level of capital and revenue funding for future infrastructure 
projects across the County.

8.2  Major Road Network Corridors 
The Committee has continued to monitor progress on delivery of the A511 growth corridor and looked 
at the study work carried out to identify the Council’s next priority major road network (MRN) corridor. 
The Committee:

• Welcomed the submission of a planning application for the extension of the Bardon Link Road 
(A511 growth corridor) but raised concerns about the escalating costs of materials on the project. 

• Reviewed the methodology used to prioritise works across all the MRNs.

• Considered diverse opinions regarding the route of the next priority growth corridor, receiving 
written representations from some local Members on the issue. 

47

https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1293


26  Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22

8.3  The Government’s National Bus Strategy and requirements for a Bus 
Service Improvement Plan
The Committee looked at how the National Bus Strategy would be implemented in Leicestershire 
and the financial implications of a Bus Service Improvement Plan as required by that Strategy. The 
Committee:

• Heard how some government funding would be used to encourage behavioural changes regarding 
public transport. 

• Discussed ways of engaging with young people to use public transport and prevent them becoming 
habitual car users, considering the use of mobile phone technology.

• Noting the Council’s dependency on government funding to deliver the requirement of a 
Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan, questioned what other sources of funding could be 
used should this not materialise or be insufficient.

• Noted that Section 106 developer contributions would be used to expand and promote Demand 
Responsive Transport services.

8.4  Road Casualty Reduction
The Committee considered the road casualty statistics for Leicestershire and initiatives that were 
being implemented to improve road safety. The Committee:

• Noted the Covid-19 pandemic had reduced the number of cars on roads and the severity of 
accidents. 

• Raised concerns that many drivers were still failing to wear seatbelts which increased the severity 
of injuries in accidents. 

• Raised concerns regarding the increase in casualties of vulnerable road users, in particular cyclists, 
noting the likely impact of increased cycling during the pandemic and speeding traffic on clearer 
urban roads during 2020/21. 

8.5  Performance
The Committee has regularly monitored the performance of Highway and Transport Services and 
from this has:

• Made suggestions for improving how performance data is presented to make this easier to 
understand, including the provision of sample sizes when referring to key performance indicators to 
enable the Committee to form a more accurate picture.

• Helped publicise the National Transport Survey which is where much of the public satisfaction data 
and benchmarking against other councils comes from.

• Considered the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on public satisfaction with rights of way and cycle 
routes. 

• Welcomed the securing of £1.3m Rural Mobility Funding from the Government to support a 
modern Demand Responsive Transport service. 

• Received an update on progress made to deliver the recommendations of the Flooding Scruitny 
Review Panel held in 2020/21. As flooding continues to be an issue affecting many residents, the 
Committee has requested that annual updates be provided on this topic.

48



27  Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22

8.6  Next Year
The Committee has requested a further report to better understand the growth pressures faced by the 
SEN Transport budget and how these will be managed.

The Committee will consider the business case for the North and Eastern sections of the Melton 
Mowbray Distributor Road scheme before it is considered by Cabinet and will also look at the Local 
Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans.

The Committee will continue to monitor public satisfaction with the road network of Leicestershire 
and the key performance indicators for Highways and Transport Services.

8.7  Membership and contact details
• Richard Allen CC  

• David Bill MBE, CC  

• Tony Gillard CC  (Chairman) 

• Max Hunt CC  

• Bryan Lovegrove CC  

• Keith Merrie MBE CC (Vice Chairman) 

• Les Phillimore CC

49

https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=9906
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=285
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=928
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=273
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=9905
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=9901
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=9340


28  Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22

9.  Contact the Overview and Scrutiny Team

If you would like to feed into the scrutiny process or suggest a topic for scrutiny’s attention, you can 
get in touch with the Scrutiny Team at democracy@leics.gov.uk.

Alternatively, you can contact the officer that supports a specific Committee as detailed below.

Scrutiny Commission  
Joanne Twomey 
Democratic Services Manager 
Tel: 0116 305 6462 

Adults and Communities  
Lauren Walton 
Democratic Services Officer 
Tel: 0116 305 2253  
Email: Lauren.walton@leics.gov.uk

Children and Families  
Damien Buckley 
Democratic Services Officer 
Tel: 0116 305 0183  
Email: Damien.buckley@leics.gov.uk 

Environment and Climate Change  
Cat Tuohy 
Democratic Services Officer 
0116 305 5483  
Email: Cat.tuohy@leics.gov.uk 

Health  
Euan Walters  
Senior Democratic Services Officer 
Tel: 0116 305 6016  
Email: Euan.walters@leics.gov.uk 

Highway and Transport  
Euan Walters 
As above

 

50

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Lauren.walton@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Damien.buckley@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Cat.tuohy@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Euan.walters@leics.gov.uk


51



52



53



Leicestershire County Council Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22

Published July 2022 
Democratic Services 
Chief Executive’s Department 
Leicestershire County Council

For further details on the contents of this report please  
email: democracy@leics.gov.uk

54


	Agenda
	2 To confirm the minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 18th May 2022.
	Leaders Statement public version

	6a Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22
	Appendix A - Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2021-22 Final
	1. What is Overview and Scrutiny?
	1.1  Principles of good scrutiny
	1.2  Our structure 
	1.3  Your role in our work
	1.4  How to get involved
	1.5  How to find out more

	2. 	Scrutiny in numbers
	3. 
Scrutiny 
Commission
	3.1  The Budget and monitoring financial performance
	3.2  Corporate Asset Investment Fund (CAIF)
	3.3  Commercial Services
	3.4  Strategic Growth
	3.5  Economic Growth and the LLEP
	3.6  Policy development
	3.7  Next Year
	3.8  Membership and contact details

	4. 
Adults and Communities
	4.1  Budget and Demand Pressures 
	4.2  Care Home Quality
	4.3  Digital Developments
	4.4  Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) Shared Care Record
	4.5  Care Technology Transformation
	4.6  Performance
	4.7  Policy Development and Service Changes
	4.8  Next Year
	4.9  Membership and contact details

	5. 
Children 
and Families 
	5.1  SEND and High Needs Block Development
	5.2  Children’s Innovation Partnership
	5.3  Young Carers
	5.4  Inclusion in Leicestershire Schools
	5.5  Performance
	5.6  Next Year
	5.7  Membership and contact details

	6. 
Environment 
and climate change 
	6.1  Performance
	6.2  Environment Strategy and Carbon Commitments
	6.3  Net Zero Carbon 2045: A Roadmap for Leicestershire
	6.4  Resources and Waste Strategy Consultation
	6.5  Country Parks, Open Spaces and Tree Management
	6.6  Next Year
	6.7  Membership and contact details

	7. 
Health 
	7.1  Public Health response to the Covid-19 pandemic
	7.2  Restoration and recovery of elective/planned care in Leicestershire
	7.3  Integrated Care Systems
	7.4  Child and Adult Health
	7.5  Mental Health and Suicide
	7.6  Access to Primary Care Services
	7.7  LLR Joint Health Scrutiny Committee
	7.8  Next Year
	7.9  Membership and contact details

	8. 
Highways 
and transport 
	8.1  The Budget and the Highways and Transportation Capital and Works Programme for 2022/23
	8.2  Major Road Network Corridors 
	8.3  The Government’s National Bus Strategy and requirements for a Bus Service Improvement Plan
	8.4  Road Casualty Reduction
	8.5  Performance
	8.6  Next Year
	8.7  Membership and contact details

	9. 	Contact the Overview and Scrutiny Team



